IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITY OF BOCA RATON, FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, and the TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS and CITIZENS OF THE CITY OF BOCA RATON, FLORIDA, including NONRESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, and ALL OTHERS HAVING OR CLAIMING ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE ISSUANCE BY PLAINTIFF OF THE BONDS DESCRIBED HEREIN OR TO BE AFFECTED IN ANY WAY THEREBY,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 77,468

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure from a Final Judgment issued pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes refusing to validate special assessment bonds.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment, dated January 22, 1991, of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, wherein the Circuit Court held that the issuance by the City of Boca Raton, Florida (herein called the "City"), of not exceeding \$21,000,000 Special Assessment Improvement Bonds, Series 1990 (Visions 90 Project) (herein called the "Bonds"), is not authorized by law and that the Bonds are not validated.

The suit was initiated when the City, the Plaintiff/Appellant, filed a Complaint for bond validation pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, seeking validation of \$21,000,000 of its special assessment not in excess of improvement bonds. App. at 1. The State of Florida by and through the State Attorney for the fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, filed his answer on October 24, 1990. App. at 73.

Intervenors/Appellees Herbert L. and Lenore E. Wachtel, Evert Gijsendorfer and David Chiodo, William H. Hessick et.al, William D. and Dorothy A. Eubank, Richard M. and Clara M. Wilson, Ramon A. Benson, Neil C. and Lorraine C. Adams and G.J. Christensen, Allan I. Schneiderman, Richard and Rhoda Kleiman, James P. Camene and Ulla Came, Dr. and Mrs. William D. Jackson, Lowell Boggy, Oryal E. Hadley, E.V. Gardner, Thomas M. Milo (collectively, "Wachtel") filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses on November 16, 1990. App. at 90. Intervenors/Appellees James H. Batmasian and Marta Batmasian ("Batmasian") filed their

- 2 -

Answer and Affirmative Defenses in November 16, 1990. App. at 85. Intervenor/Appellee Astral Investment Company ("Astral") filed its Motion to Intervene and Response to Order to Show Cause and their Answer and Affirmative Defenses on November 15, 1990. App. at 78. The Complaint was heard before the Honorable Edward Fine, Circuit Judge of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida and for Palm Beach County, on November 22, 1990. On January 22, 1991, a Final Judgment was signed and entered refusing to validate the Bonds on the grounds that the City was not authorized, under its home rule powers, to levy the special assessments which were to be pledged as a source of payment of and as security for the Bonds. App. at 95. The City filed timely notices of appeal on February 22, 1991. App. at 115. On February 26, 1991, the State Attorney filed his Notice of Cross-Appeal. On March 1, 1991 J. Herman and Esther Danle, Select Properties of Boca Palm, Inc., Woodside Development, Inc. and Palm Plaza Investment, Inc., and Wachtel filed their Notice of Cross-Appeal. On March 5, 1991 such parties, other than J. Herman and Esther Danle, filed their Amended Notice of Cross-Appeal. On March 4, 1991, Batmasian filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal.

#### FACTS

1. The City is a municipality of the State of Florida located in Palm Beach County, Florida, and was created and is existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Florida.

2. On May 22, 1990, the City Council (the "Council") of the City, acting pursuant to the City's home rule powers granted by Article VIII, 2(b) of the Florida Constitution of 1968 (the "1968 Constitution") and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes (also herein called the "Municipal Home Rule Powers Act"), enacted Ordinance No. 3851 (the "Ordinance"). App. at 7. In the Ordinance the Council determined to provide for the issuance of the Bonds to finance the cost of improvements as defined in the Ordinance, determined that the Bonds would be payable from special assessments levied under and in the manner provided in the Ordinance against the property to be specially benefited (the "Assessed Parcels") by the acquisition and/or construction of the improvements and at the option of the City from other funds of the City derived from sources other than ad valorem taxation and legally available for such purpose.

3. Section 5 of the Ordinance provides that the special assessments shall be levied thereunder upon the Assessed Parcels by the improvements in proportion to the benefits to be derived therefrom and that such special benefits may be determined and prorated according to the method of apportionment based on the front footage of the Assessed Parcels, the square footage of the respective Assessed Parcels or by such other method as shall

- 4 -

apportion the assessments equitably and said Section 5 provides for the manner of levying such special assessments. App. at 9.

4. Section 6 of the Ordinance provides an alternate method of apportioning special assessments and procedures for levying variable special assessments. App. at 6.

Pursuant to Section 6 of the Ordinance, on May 22, 1990, 5. Resolution No. 128-90 (the "Project the Council adopted Resolution"), in which the City determined to construct the improvements (the "Project"), determined the estimated cost of the Project and determined the identity of the Assessed Parcels which would be assessed to pay the cost of the Project, as designated by the assessment plat on file with the City Clerk. The Project Resolution provides that the Assessed App. at 22. Parcels shall constitute the "Downtown Special Assessment District". App. at 23.

On May 22, 1990, the Council passed and adopted 6. Resolution No. 129-90 (the "Bond Resolution") whereby it authorized the issuance of not exceeding \$21,000,000 of the Bonds for the purpose of financing the cost of the Project. App. at The Bond Resolution provides that the Bonds shall be dated, 35. shall bear interest at not exceeding the maximum rate authorized by applicable law, payable at such times, and shall mature on such dates and in such years and in such amounts; all as shall be fixed by subsequent resolution of the Council adopted at or prior to the sale of the Bonds. The Bond Resolution further provides that the Bonds and the interest thereon are payable from and

- 5 -

secured by a lien upon and pledge of proceeds derived from special assessments, all in the manner and with the priority of lien described in the Bond Resolution. App. at 50.

7. The Bond Resolution provides that no holder of the Bonds shall ever have the right to require or compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the City to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds, and that the Bonds do not constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation or provision. App. at 50.

8. The City brought the proceedings below seeking validation of the Bonds. Validation was opposed by the State and intervenors, as described in the "Statement of the Case", above.

9. Following trial and submission of memoranda of law by the City and certain of the defendants, the Circuit Court, in its Final Judgment, denied validation of the Bonds and made the following findings of fact and law which the Circuit Court stated could be significant if the Circuit Court's ruling is overturned:

- (a) the special assessment is not a tax;
- (b) the assessments on the Assessed Parcels are directly proportional to the special benefits to be provided each Assessed Parcel and the benefits are in excess of the assessments;
- (c) the improvements comprising the Project are properly treated as a single project; improvements need not necessarily be abutting, adjoining or even completely within the District;

- (d) parcels excluded from the Downtown Special Assessment District would at most receive only insignificant special benefits; and
- (e) all notice provisions required by law have been fulfilled. App. at 95.

10. The Circuit Court denied validation of the Bonds solely on the grounds that the assessments were not authorized, stating its reasons for that decision in paragraph 12 of the Final Judgment, as follows:

> 12. Boca Raton lacks the power to specially assess without a specific grant of authority from the legislature. Article VII, Section 1(a) has preempted all forms of taxation other than ad valorem taxes to the State. Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution does not supersede Article VII, Section 1(a) Chapter 166 of the of said Constitution. Florida Statutes does not supersede Article VII, Section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution. Only the State holds the power to impose assessments. By passing Chapter 166 the State did not grant specific statutory authority to municipalities to levy special assessments. Municipalities have only been able to pass such assessments when the State which holds specifically this authorized power has municipalities to pass special assessments. No such authorization exists in today's case.

> Therefore the attempt by the City to finance the issuance of these bonds by special assessment is illegal . . . . App. at 100.

11. The Circuit Court's Final Judgment, finds that the assessment is <u>not</u> a tax, yet denies validation on the grounds that Article VII, Section 1(a), of the 1968 Constitution has preempted all forms of taxation, other than ad valorem taxes, to the State, and that the State has not specifically authorized the

City to levy the special assessments involved in this case. The determination that the assessments are invalid on account of preemption under Article VII, Section 1(a), of the 1968 Constitution is incompatible with the Circuit Court's finding that the assessment is not a tax.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Article VII, §2(b) of the 1968 Constitution of the State of Florida, and the implementing Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, grant broad home rule provisions to Florida municipalities, Municipalities may exercise any power for municipal purposes except when expressly prohibited by law. Prohibition or preemption must be express and will not be implied. There is no express prohibition in general law to the exercise of municipal home rule provisions to authorize special assessments. The preemption to the State of taxation contained in Article VII of the 1968 Constitution does not encompass special assessments which, under Florida law and as found by the Circuit Court on the facts here presented, are not taxes.

The legislative intent behind Chapter 166, as expressed in Section 166.042 clearly recognizes that municipalities are authorized to continue to exercise those powers, including imposition of special assessments, previously granted by statutes repealed by the Municipal Home Rule Power Act. Thus, the legislature clearly did not interpret or envision special assessments as a tax preempted or prescribed from municipalities. Florida law recognizes that the constitutional limitations on "taxation" do not apply to special assessments. The distinction between special assessment and general taxes is clear: the special assessment authorized by the City are not general revenue

- 9 -

raising measures but are changes imposed to defray the cost of providing a special benefit to the land.

Further, the City has authority to enact special assessments of the type under consideration pursuant to the City's police power regulatory authority. Just as impact fees are not taxes where the fees are appropriately sized, collected and earmarked, so the special assessments here levied correspond to the cost of and benefit of the Project, and bear a reasonable relationship to the needs of the assessed area. Thus, the City is authorized to impose the special assessments as an exercise of its power to conduct municipal government and to provide roads and other infrastructure in furtherance of the land use provisions of the development order governing development in the downtown area.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE CITY WAS NOT AUTHORIZED UNDER ITS HOME RULE POWERS TO LEVY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

(a) Municipal Powers -- Historical Background.

Under the Florida Constitution of 1885, municipalities were creatures of legislative grace. Article VIII, § 8 of the 1885 Constitution provided in pertinent part:

> The Legislature shall have the power to establish, and to abolish, municipalities, to provide for their government, to prescribe their jurisdiction and powers, and to alter or amend the same at any time.

Under the foregoing provision of the 1885 Constitution, municipalities were inherently powerless, absent a grant of power by the Legislature. Powers not granted to a municipality by the Legislature were deemed to be reserved to the Legislature. This was known as the "Reservation of Authority Rule." "Dillon's Rule," as expressed in Dillon, <u>Municipal Corporations</u> § 55 (1st Ed. 1872), was used by the courts to determine what powers the Legislature had granted to a municipality. Under "Dillon's Rule," a municipality's powers were limited to the following powers:

> First, those granted in express words; second, those necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted; third, those presented to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of the corporation not simply convenient, but indispensable. Any fair, reasonable, substantial doubt concerning the existence of power is resolved by the courts against the corporation. . . <u>Ibid</u>.

Under the 1885 Constitution, the Florida courts followed the "Reservation of Authority Rule" and "Dillon's Rule." See, e.g., Amos v. Matthews, 126 So. 308 (Fla. 1930); Williams v. Dunnellon, 169 So. 631 (Fla. 1936); Heriot v. City of Pensacola, 146 So. 654 (Fla. 1933); Malone v. City of Quincy, 62 So. 922 (Fla. 1913). "The noblest municipal ordinance, enacted to serve was void, absent municipal purpose, the most compelling authorization found in some special or general law." Lake Worth Utilities Authority v. City of Lake Worth, 468 So.2d 215 (Fla. "Each time municipal authority, or change in 1985) at 217. municipal authority, was sought, it would be necessary to approach the legislative branch of government." Id. at 216-17.

Florida's population boom, which started in the 1950's, put great pressure on Florida's municipalities and counties to provide additional infrastructure and public services. They were severely hampered in their ability to meet local needs by the "Reservation of Authority Rule" and "Dillon's Rule." In the 1950's and 1960's, the Legislature was flooded with local bills, population bills and special bills (for the formation of special taxing districts) under which the Legislature would provide solutions to their local problems. For example, in 1965, 2,107 local bills were introduced in the Legislature; by 1970 the number of population acts reached 2,100 with over 1,300 having been enacted after the effective date of the 1960 census; and, by 1968 the number of special taxing districts (exclusive of school districts) which were created by the Legislature has been estimated at 1,000. See Sparkman, <u>The History and Status of</u> <u>Local Governmental Powers in Florida</u>, 25 Fla. L. Rev. 271 (1973) at 286. It became obvious that, in order to meet local needs and to relieve the Legislature of the burden of solving local problems (by means of local acts, population acts and special acts), broad home rule powers needed to be granted to Florida's municipalities and counties. This need was met, in the case of municipalities, by the enactment of Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the 1968 Constitution and the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, discussed below.

#### (b) Grant of Municipal Home Rule Powers.

Article VIII, § 2(b) of the 1968 Constitution granted broad home rule powers to Florida municipalities. That section provides in pertinent part:

> governmental, Municipalities shall have corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform render municipal municipal functions and and may exercise any powers for services, except otherwise municipal purposes as provided by law. (Emphasis added.)

The Honorable Paul W. Danahy, Jr., who was Chairman of the House Committee on Local Government, described the effect of this constitutional provision as follows:

> "a municipality need not seek legislation unless it is needed to remove a <u>special</u> <u>prohibition</u> against performing a function; the absence of a specific prohibition means that the municipality may proceed in the manner deemed appropriate at the local level." (Emphasis added.)

See, Memorandum from Representative Paul W. Danahy to members of the Florida House of Representatives, Feb. 18, 1969, <u>Id</u>. at 293. Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte, the reporter for the Constitutional Revision Commission (later the Dean of the Florida State University School of Law) described the difference between the above quoted provisions of the 1968 and 1885 Constitutions as follows:

> "The apparent difference is that under the new language, all municipalities have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers unless otherwise provided by law, whereas under the 1885 Constitution, municipalities had only those powers expressly granted by law."

Commentary by Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte, 26A West's Florida Statutes Annotated 292.

In the first litigated case involving the scope of municipal powers decided after the adoption of the 1968 Constitution, the Florida Supreme Court held that a statute was needed to define the scope of the term "municipal purpose," as used in Article VIII, § 2(b) of the 1968 Constitution. City of Miami Beach v. Fleetwood Hotel, Inc., 261 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1972). The Legislature responded in 1973 by enacting the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act (which is codified in Chapter 166, Florida Statutes). The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act was declared to be constitutional by the Florida Supreme Court in City of Miami Beach v. Forte Towers, Inc., 305 So.2d 764 (Fla. 1974).

§ 166.021, Florida Statutes (a section of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act), sets forth the scope of municipal home rule powers. The pertinent provisions of that section are as follows:

166.021 Powers. --

(1) As provided in s.2(b), Art. VIII of the State Constitution, <u>municipalities</u> shall have the governmental, corporate, and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions, and render municipal services, and <u>may exercise</u> any power for <u>municipal purposes</u>, <u>except when</u> expressly prohibited by law.

(2) "Municipal purpose" means any activity or power which may be exercised by the state or its political subdivisions.

(3) The Legislature recognizes that pursuant to the grant of power set forth in s.2(b), Art. VIII of the State Constitution, the legislative body of each municipality has the power to enact legislation concerning any subject matter upon which the state Legislature may act, except:

(a) The subjects of annexation, merger, and exercise of extraterritorial power, which require general or special law pursuant to s.2(c), Art. VIII of the State Constitution;

(b) Any subject expressly prohibited by the constitution;

(C) Any subject expressly preempted to state or county government by the constitution or by general law; and

(d) Any subject preempted to a county pursuant to a county charter adopted under the authority of ss.1 (g), 3, and 6(e), Art. VIII of the State Constitution.

(4) The provisions of this section shall be so construed as to secure for municipalities the broad exercise of home rule powers granted by the constitution. It is the further intent of the Legislature to extend to municipalities the exercise of powers for municipal governmental, corporate, or proprietary purposes not expressly prohibited by the constitution, general or special law, or county charter and to remove any limitations,

judicially				
exercise of				
so expressly	/ prohibi	ted	• •	(Emphasis
added.)				

Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the 1968 Constitution and the Municipal Home Rule Powers abrogated the "Reservation of Act Authority Rule" and "Dillon's Rule" and wrought a fundamental and sweeping change in the powers of municipalities. In State v City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1978) the Florida Supreme Court acknowledged the vast breadth of municipal home rule powers. The Court stated the issue in that case as follows: "The question we must decide is whether or not a Florida municipal corporation is authorized by law to issue 'double advance refunding' [revenue] bonds?" (emphasis supplied). Ibid. The Court held that municipalities may issue such bonds under their constitutional home rule powers, stating that:

> Municipalities are not dependent upon the further authorization. Legislature for Legislative statutes are relevant only to determine limitation of authority. Id. at 1209.

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