IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: 77,468

CITY OF BOCA RATON, FLORIDA,
Appellant,
Cross Appellee,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,
Appellee,
Cross Appellant.

On Appeal from a Bond Validation in the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida Case No.: CL 90-10167 AN

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, CROSS APPELLANT

DAVID H. BLUDWORTH,
STATE ATTORNEY
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
LESLIE M. RITCH
Assistant State Attorney
Fla. Bar # 396745
The Harvey Bldg., Ste. 800
224 Datura Street
West Palm Beach,
Florida 33401

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

The authority to levy special assessments in Florida is an exercise of the "taxing power". As such, it is governed by Article VII, Section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution, which preempts all forms of taxation, other than ad valorem taxes, to the State.

Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution and Chapter 166 of the Florida Statutes do not supersede Article VII, Section 1(a), and do not provide the City with the requisite authority to levy special assessments.

POINT II.

An enforced exaction against property owners which is based on the value of their property; which is not fixed in amount, but rather varies from year to year; and which is not proportionate to any special benefit inuring to that property from identified improvement projects to be constructed within the area of the exaction, is an ad valorem tax. As such, it is subject to all the conditions and restrictions imposed upon the levy of such a tax.

POINT III.

Residential parcels and those used for houses of worship stand to reap the same benefits, including increased developmental rights, as the other parcels of property located within the assessment area. No logical basis exists for their exclusion from assessment.

As for the "Deferrable Assessments," the City has not shown the basis on which it relies to treat only a specified class of property in a preferential manner.

"Equal protection" concepts require that all classes be treated equally. Therefore, the City's arbitrary decisions to treat certain classes of property differently than others should not be upheld.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE CITY WAS NOT AUTHORIZED UNDER ITS HOME RULE POWERS TO LEVY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS TO FINANCE THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS.

Chapter 75, Florida Statutes (1989), outlines the basic procedures to be followed in bond validation proceedings. This includes Section 75.02, entitled Plaintiff, which enables municipalities, among others, to seek a determination of their

...authority to incur bonded debt or issue certificates of debt and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith, including assessment of taxes levied or to be levied...

Section 75.02, Fla. Stat. (1989).

It also includes Section 75.04, entitled Complaint, which prescribes the contents of the plaintiff's complaint.

The Complaint shall set out the plaintiff's authority for incurring the bonded debt or issuing certificates of debt, the holding of an election and the result when an election is required, the ordinance, resolution, or other proceeding authorizing the issue and its adoption, all other essential proceedings had or taken in connection therewith, the amount of the bonds or certificates to be issued and the interest they are to bear...

Section 75.04, Fla. Stat. (1989).

In the case sub judice, the City invoked Chapter 75 of the Florida Statutes and sought validation of the Bonds. In so doing, the City filed its Complaint which set out, inter alia, its alleged authority to issue the Bonds; and the Ordinance and Resolutions which it adopted. It is the Ordinance and Resolutions which authorize the issuance of the Bonds to finance the Improvements,

which provide that the Bonds are payable from special assessments, and which determine to use an ad valorem method to prorate the assessments among the properties in the Downtown Special Assessment District. (App.: P. 1-6).

The issue, then, of the validity of these assessments is a proper one for these validation proceedings. <u>See</u> also, <u>City of Ft.</u>

<u>Myers v. State</u>, 95 Fla. 704, 117 So. 97, 101 (1928) (general rule that assessments cannot be attacked in validation proceedings does not apply where the validity or status of the bond is made to depend on the validity of the assessment rather than the power of the municipality to issue them).

The City sets out Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the 1968 Florida Constitution, and Chapter 166 of the Florida Statutes as its authority to issue the Bonds and to impose the ad valorem assessments, the proceeds of which are to be pledged for the payment of the Bonds. (App.:P.2-5, 7-9, 23-25, 35, 38, 41-43).

Chapter 166, Florida Statutes (1989), the <u>Municipal Home Rule</u>

<u>Powers Act</u>, was promulgated pursuant to the authority granted by

Article VIII, Section 2(b), Florida Constitution (1968). No taxing

power is contained in that Article, so none could be granted in

Chapter 166.

While these provisions grant home rule power to municipalities for municipal purposes, except as otherwise provided by law, they do not grant the City totally unrestricted powers as the City would have this Court believe. Art. VIII, § 2(b), Fla. Const. (1968), and § 166.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). This was recognized in <u>Lake</u>

Worth Utilities v. City of Lake Worth, 468 So.2d 215, 217 (Fla. 1985), where the Court stated

The clear purpose of the 1968 revision embodied in Article VIII, section 2 was to give the municipalities inherent power to meet municipal needs. But "inherent" is not to be confused with "absolute" or even with "supreme" in this context. The legislature's retained power is now one of limitation rather than one of grace, but it remains an all-pervasive power, nonetheless.

The specific limitation with which we are here concerned is the limitation of the City's taxing power, as expressed in Article VII, Sections 1(a) and 9(a), of the Florida Constitution.

Article VII, Section 1(a), states

No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law. (Emphasis supplied).

Art. VII, § 1(a), Fla. Const. (1968)

Section 9(a) of that same Article further states

Counties, school districts, and municipalities shall, and special districts may, be authorized by law to levy ad valorem taxes and may be authorized by general law to levy other taxes, for their respective purposes, except ad valorem taxes on intangible personal property and taxes prohibited by this constitution. (Emphasis supplied).

Art. VII, § 9(a), Fla. Const. (1968)

These provisions of Article VII were not superseded by Article VIII, Section 2(b), of the Florida Constitution. Therefore, the constitutional grant of home rule power to the City must be read in light of constitutional limitations on the taxing power of the City, to give effect to both Articles.

This Court recognized this rule of construction in <u>City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc.</u>, 261 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1972), where it was stated

An elementary rule of construction is that if possible, effect should be given to every part and every word of the Constitution and that unless there is some clear reason to the contrary, no portion of the fundamental law should be treated as superfluous inoperative. meaningless orconstruction of the Constitution which renders superfluous or meaningless any of the provisions of the Constitution should not be adopted by this Court.

See also, State ex rel. West v. Butler, 70 Fla. 102, 69 So. 771
(1915).

Nowhere in Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution, or Chapter 166 of the Florida Statutes, is there a specific grant of taxing power to the City of the kind which the City has attempted to exert in this case.

Part III of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes (1989), deals with municipal finance and taxation, and it would be here, if anywhere in Chapter 166, that we would expect to find the City's taxing authority. The only 2 provisions which might be applicable are Sections 166.201 and 166.211(1), Florida Statutes (1989).

Section 166.201, Florida Statutes (1989), states that

A municipality may raise, by taxation and licenses <u>authorized</u> by the <u>constitution</u> or <u>general law</u> ...amounts of money which are necessary for the conduct of municipal government... (Emphasis supplied.)

With respect to ad valorem taxes, Section 166.211(1), Florida Statutes (1989), states that

Pursuant to Article VII, s. 9 of the state constitution, a municipality is hereby authorized, in a manner not inconsistent with general law, to levy ad valorem taxes on real and tangible personal property within the municipality in an amount not to exceed ten (10) mills, exclusive of taxes levied for the payment of bonds and taxes levied for periods of not longer than two years and approved by a vote of the electors.

It is apparent that neither of these provisions constitute a grant to the City of the taxing power necessary for the imposition of the ad valorem assessments in this case. In fact, Section 166.201, Florida Statutes (1989), speaks to taxation which is authorized by the constitution or by general law, and the ad valorem assessments in this case were not authorized by the constitution nor by general law.

According to this Honorable Court

Taxation by a city must be expressly authorized by either the constitution or grant of the Legislature, and <u>any doubts</u> as to the powers sought to be exercised <u>must be resolved</u> <u>against the municipality</u> and in favor of the general public. (Emphasis supplied.)

City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., supra, at 3; citing Certain Lots, etc. v. Town of Monticello, 159 Fla. 134, 31 So.2d 905 (1947).

The Court went on to say

Statutes authorizing a municipality to tax are to be strictly construed, are not to be extended by implication, and are not to be enlarged so as to include any matter not specifically included, even though said matter may be closely analogous to that included.

City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., supra, at 3; citing City of Miami v. Kayfetz, 158 Fla. 758, 30 So.2d 521 (1947).

The Court further explained that, prior to the adoption of the 1968 Constitution, a city could be authorized to impose taxes by special or local act, such as its Charter; but after the adoption of the 1968 Constitution, except for ad valorem taxes, the authorization for a city to levy any tax may be granted only by general law. In addition

Any tax not authorized by general law must necessarily fall by virtue of the preemption clause of Fla. Const. Art. VII, § 1 (1968).

City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., supra, at 3.

In a later case, this Court continued its reasoning and stated that

...the State, through the legislative branch of the government, possesses an inherent power to tax, and a municipality may exercise a taxing power only to the extent to which such power has been specifically granted to it by general law.

Belcher Oil Company v. Dade County, 271 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1972).

While the inherent taxing State possesses power, Neither, as was stated earlier, do municipalities do not. municipalities possess such power by virtue of the home rule provisions of Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the 1968 Florida Constitution and Chapter 166 of the Florida Statutes. See, City of Hollywood v. Davis, 154 Fla. 785, 19 So.2d 111, 114 (1944); City of Coral Gables v. Coral Gables, Inc., 119 Fla. 30, 160 So. 476, 478 (1935); Snell Isle Homes, Inc. v. City of St. Petersburg, 199 So. 2d 525, 527 (Fla. 1967); City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., 261 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1972); City of Miami v. Brinker, 342 So.2d 115, 116 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977); 1974 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 074-379

(Dec. 9, 1974); 1980 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 080-87 (Nov. 10, 1980); 1982 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 082-9 (Feb. 23, 1982); 1985 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-90 (Oct. 30, 1985).

The City contends that these assessments are not taxes and are, therefore, not subject to the constitutional restraints imposed upon the exercise of taxing powers. Even assuming, arguendo, that these assessments are not taxes, the City is mistaken in its belief that the constitutional restraints are not applicable here.

It has long been settled that special or local assessments form an important part of the system of taxation and are made in pursuance of taxing power. Marshall v. C.S. Young Construction Co., 94 Fla. 11, 113 So. 565, 567 (1927); Anderson v. City of Ocala, 83 Fla. 344, 91 So. 182 (1921); Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Co. v. City of Lakeland, 94 Fla. 347, 115 So. 669, 676 (1928). Special assessments are in the nature of a tax. <u>Day v. City of St.</u> Augustine, 104 Fla. 261, 139 So. 880, 885 (1932). Such assessments are burdens in the form of taxation. Swanson v. Therrell, 112 Fla. 474, 150 So. 634, 636 (1933). While an assessment is not, strictly speaking, a tax, it is a burden levied under the power of taxation. Jackson v. City of Lake Worth, 156 Fla. 452, 23 So.2d 526, 528 These assessments have even been called a "peculiar species of taxation". State ex rel. Board of Supervisors of South Florida Conservancy Dist. v. Caldwell, 160 Fla. 355, 35 So.2d 642, 644 (1948); 1984 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 84-48 (May 8, 1984); 1985 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-101 (Dec. 16, 1985). See also, 1980 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 080-87 (Nov. 10, 1980); 1985 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-90
(Oct. 30, 1985); 14 McQuillan, Municipal Corporations § 38.01
(1987).

Even the City, in its Closing Argument at the Validation Hearing, acknowledged the fact that

...special assessments are levied pursuant to the taxing power...

(App.-S:V.I T.6 P. 331).

This characterization of assessments as an exercise of taxing power was not expressly changed or superseded by the adoption of the 1968 Florida Constitution. Neither can such a change be implied where it would render Article VII, Sections 1(a) and 9(a) of the Constitution meaningless. City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., supra.

The City's Brief presented a very interesting, albeit substantially irrelevant, historical overview of municipal powers under both the 1885 and 1968 Florida Constitutions, of the "Reservation of Authority Rule", and of "Dillon's Rule". This overview, however, only summarily addresses the real issue here—which is the constitutional preemption of the taxing power to the State under Article VII of the 1968 Florida Constitution.

The City's comparisons of its taxing powers to those of counties and special districts, are unfounded. For example, Section 125.01(1)(r), Florida Statutes (1989), is a general law which specifically authorizes counties to levy and collect special assessments. Likewise, for example, with respect to water control districts, Section 298.36, Florida Statutes (1989), grants these

districts the authority to levy taxes to pay for the benefits which have been assessed against lands in the district. Further, for example, with respect to safe neighborhood improvement districts, Sections 163.506(1)(d), 163.508(3)(c), and 163.511(1)(c), provide the general law authority for such districts to make assessments.

The City goes to great lengths to convince this Court that, although revolutionary changes were made to municipalities' home rule powers, no changes were effectuated to taxing power. This is misleading and unpersuasive.

The City cites <u>Lake Howell Water and Reclamation District v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 268 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1972), for this proposition. <u>Lake Howell</u> is not on point. Even the quoted portion of that case which is included in the City's Brief states that the Court was speaking to the issue of whether or not special assessments were subject to the same restrictions as ad valorem taxes.

We find nothing therein that places special assessments for local improvements under the restrictions pertaining to <u>ad valorem taxes</u>. (Emphasis Supplied).

Lake Howell Water and Reclamation District v. State, Id, at 899.

For purposes of this argument, Point I, we will agree that special assessments are not generally subject to the restrictions applicable to ad valorem taxes. This does not change the fact that

All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law. (Emphasis Supplied).

Art. VII, § 1(a), Fla. Const. (1968).

Even the commentary to the 1968 Constitution by Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte notes that this last sentence of Article VII, Section 1(a), was not a part of the 1885 Florida Constitution.

As was stated in City of Miami v. Kayfetz, supra at 524,

...the power to tax is the power to destroy...

Such an extraordinary power must be protected. Article VII provides the protection, and does so in clear, concise language which requires that the authority for municipalities to exercise taxing power, other than for ad valorem taxes, must come from either the Constitution or general law.

The general law provision which seems to be applicable in this situation and which was recommended to the City by its legal counsel, is Chapter 170, Florida Statutes (1989). (App.-S:V.II T.3). It is uncontroverted, however, that the City chose not to use Chapter 170, and instead relied on the home rule provisions of Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution and Chapter 166 of the Florida Statutes. (App.:P. 1-6; and App.-S:V.I T.6 P. 318-319, 389).

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